#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

U.S. BANK N.A., AS TRUSTEE FOR THE SPECIALTY UNDERWRITING AND RESIDENTIAL FINANCE TRUST MORTGAGE LOAN ASSETBACKED CERTIFICATES SERIES 2006-BC4,

Supreme Court Electronically Filed Nov 25 2020 04:25 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

VS.

THUNDER PROPERTIES, INC.; AND WESTLAND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENTS,

Respondents.

Certified Question from the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit Case No. 17-16399

#### **OPENING BRIEF**

Ariel E. Stern, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 8276
AKERMAN LLP
1635 Village Center Circle, Suite 200
Las Vegas, Nevada 89134
(702) 634-5000
ariel.stern@akerman.com

## **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

This is an original proceeding under NRAP 5, based on a question certified by the Ninth Circuit. Jurisdiction is discretionary. *See, e.g., Volvo Cars of N. Am. Inc. v. Ricci*, 122 Nev. 746, 137 P.3d 1161 (2006).

### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

NRAP 5(a) allows only the supreme court to hear certified questions.

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- (1) When a lienholder whose lien arises from a mortgage for the purchase of property brings a claim seeking a declaratory judgment that the lien was not extinguished by a subsequent foreclosure sale of the property, is that claim exempt from statutes of limitations under *City of Fernley v. Nevada Department of Taxation*, 366 P.3d 699 (Nev. 2016)?
  - (2) If a claim described in (1) is subject to a statute of limitations:
    - (a) Which limitations period applies?
    - (b) What causes the limitations period to begin to run?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

U.S. Bank seeks a declaration in federal district court that its deed of trust survived an HOA foreclosure. It alleges the deed of trust survived because tender was futile and therefore excused.

The federal district court dismissed U.S. Bank's suit as untimely because it was not filed within five years of the sale. (AA196; AA29.) U.S. Bank appealed to the Ninth Circuit, which certified two questions. First, is this suit exempt from statutes of limitations under *City of Fernley v. Nevada Department of Transportation*? If not, what statute applies and when does it start to run?

The Court should answer "yes" to the first certified question. Because U.S. Bank seeks only prospective relief that would resolve a continuing dispute about the parties' rights, its suit is exempt from the statute of limitations under *City of Fernley*.

If the Court applies a statute of limitations, it should adopt either a period that is coextensive with the validity of the deed of trust under NRS 106.240, or the limitations period its *Berberich* decision recently applied to similar suits by HOA foreclosure buyers. If it applies the statute from *Berberich*, the limitations period should not begin to run until the HOA buyer or its successor in interest repudiates the deed of trust by taking some action inconsistent with U.S. Bank's rights as a lienholder and then informing U.S. Bank.

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

### I. Factual Background

In 2006, Bryan and Michelle Rodriguez obtained a \$212,672.00 loan, which they secured with a deed of trust against their property. (AA4.) The deed of trust was later assigned to U.S. Bank. (AA4.)

The property was part of Woodland Village Homeowners Association. (AA9.) In 2010, Woodland recorded a notice of delinquent assessments against the property, followed by a notice of default and notice of sale. (AA9-10.) So far as U.S. Bank's complaint alleges, no party tendered the superpriority debt, but tender was futile because "Woodland Village and/or its agents would have rejected the attempted tender." (AA5; *accord* AA9.)

On February 10, 2011, Woodland foreclosed and bought the property itself, winning a \$200,000 house for a credit bid of \$5,562.25. (AA4; AA6.) It later sold the property to Westland Real Estate Development and Investments, which sold the property to appellee Thunder Properties Inc. in 2013. (AA6.)

### II. Procedural History

U.S. Bank filed the present lawsuit on August 25, 2016, about five and a half years after the foreclosure sale. (AA1.) It sought a declaratory judgment that its deed of trust had survived the sale or, in the alternative, sought damages from Woodland and its foreclosure trustee. (AA13.) Its claims against Woodland and the trustee were dismissed without prejudice because U.S. Bank had not yet completed the mediation process mandated by NRS 38.310. (AA33.) Its declaratory judgment claim against Thunder went forward.

Thunder moved to dismiss the declaratory judgment claim as time-barred. (AA35-45.) It argued the claim was for quiet title under NRS 40.010, and subject to

a five-year limitations period under NRS 11.070 or 11.080. (AA40-41.) It argued the claim accrued on the day of the foreclosure sale, so the statute of limitations ran in February 2016. (AA41-42.)

U.S. Bank responded that the claim was not technically quiet title but rather a declaratory judgment about the enforceability of the deed of trust. Because enforcement of the deed of trust was not time-barred, it argued, neither was a declaratory claim about enforcing the deed of trust. (AA48.) It argued NRS 11.070 and 11.080 did not apply: 11.070 concerns suits "founded upon title," but U.S. Bank has never claimed title; 11.080 concerns suits "for recovery of real property," and U.S. Bank is not attempting to recover real property. (AA47-48.) Even if they did apply, these statutes did not begin running on the sale date. (AA49-50.) Finally, U.S. Bank argued Thunder cannot claim clear title through expiration of a statute of limitations without satisfying the requirements of adverse possession. (AA50-52.)

The district court adopted Thunder's arguments and ruled U.S. Bank's suit was untimely. (AA195-196; *see also* A28-32 (logic of earlier statute of limitations ruling incorporated into dismissal order).) It reasoned that U.S. Bank's cause of action had accrued at the time of the foreclosure sale, triggering a five-year statute of limitations that ran before U.S. Bank filed suit. (AA195, AA29.) It dismissed U.S. Bank's complaint with prejudice. (AA196.)

It did not, however, decide whether U.S. Bank's deed of trust survived the HOA's sale. It did not address U.S. Bank's arguments about Thunder needing to satisfy the requirements of adverse possession in order to clear its title through the expiration of a statutory period. (*See* AA192-196.) Its reasoning did not require it to decide whether the sale had extinguished the deed of trust; instead it ruled the statute had begun running because the deed of trust had been "called into question" (AA195). And it did not declare the deed of trust extinguished; it merely granted Thunder's motion to dismiss and ordered entry of judgment for Thunder. (AA196.) The judgment likewise said nothing about the deed of trust's validity. (AA197.)

Because the district court did not decide whether the deed of trust survived, it did not resolve the parties' dispute. If U.S. Bank tried to foreclose nonjudicially, for example, and Thunder sued to stop the foreclosure, the district court's ruling would not be *res judicata* entitling Thunder to prevail. Claim preclusion would not apply, since U.S. Bank would not be asserting any claims. *Cf. Facklam v. HSBC Bank USA*, 401 P.3d 1068, 1071 (Nev. 2017) (nonjudicial foreclosure is not a "judicial action" regulated by statutes of limitations). And issue preclusion would not apply because a decision about the deed of trust's validity was not "necessary to the [district court's] judgment," *Alcantara ex rel. Alcantara v. Wal-Mart Stores Inc.*, 321 P.3d 912, 917 (Nev. 2014)—by the district court's logic, U.S. Bank's suit is time-barred

regardless of whether its deed of trust is valid. (*See* AA195 (statute began running when deed of trust's validity was "called into question"); AA29 (same).)

Rather than schedule a foreclosure and further complicate the dispute, U.S. Bank appealed in July 2017. (AA198.) After full briefing and oral argument, the Ninth Circuit stayed consideration pending this Court's decision in *Berberich v. Bank of America N.A.*, 136 Nev. 93, 460 P.3d 440 (2020). When *Berberich* did not decide the relevant questions, the Ninth Circuit certified them to this Court, which accepted certification through an order dated September 11, 2020.

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

U.S. Bank seeks prospective relief only: a declaration as to whether its deed of trust remains enforceable. Because U.S. Bank seeks prospective relief, no statute of limitations applies under *City of Fernley v. Nevada Department of Taxation*, 366 P.3d 699 (Nev. 2016), and its suit may go forward.

Federal courts take a slightly different approach to statutes of limitations and declaratory judgments—they look through the declaratory form of the lawsuit to the substance of the parties' dispute. Under this approach, a declaratory suit is time-barred only if it would entitle the plaintiff to some affirmative relief that is itself time-barred. In this case, the affirmative relief U.S. Bank seeks is foreclosure. Foreclosure is not time-barred, so U.S. Bank's declaratory suit is timely.

If the Court rejects the federal approach and seeks to apply a Nevada statute, U.S. Bank argues that none of the statutes apply on their own terms. NRS 11.070 and 11.080 govern suits about title, not about liens, and NRS 11.190(3) clearly does not apply. Rather than applying the four-year catch-all, however, this Court has held that it should seek and apply an analogous statute of limitations if possible. The analogous statute it should apply is NRS 11.080, which would apply to a suit by Thunder seeking to raise the same issues.

In that case, the statute should not begin running on the date of the sale. An HOA sale has no effect on a senior deed of trust when the superpriority debt is tendered or when tender is excused, and this Court has already held that, after tendering, a lienholder does not have to file a suit to protect its interest. Instead, as with a quiet title suit by a party in possession of the premises, the statute of limitations should not begin to run until the lienholder's interest is disturbed—until an adverse party takes action inconsistent with the continued validity of the lien.

#### **ARGUMENT**

## I. No Statute of Limitations Applies.

## A. City of Fernley holds no statute applies to prospective relief.

U.S. Bank seeks declaratory relief under three statutes: the Federal Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2201; Nevada's version of the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act, NRS 30.040; and Nevada's quiet title statute, NRS

40.010. (AA10.) None of these statutes contains a statute of limitations, and no statute of limitations expressly applies itself to them. *Cf. Luckenbach S. S. Co. v. United States*, 312 F.2d 545, 548 (2d Cir. 1963) ("Limitations statutes do not apply to declaratory judgments as such."). In fact, Nevada applies no limitations period at all to suits seeking declaratory relief.

In *City of Fernley v. Nevada Department of Taxation*, the City of Fernley sought to invalidate a state revenue distribution statute as inconsistent with the Nevada Constitution. *City of Fernley v. Nev. Dep't of Tax.*, 366 P.3d 699, 707–08 (Nev. 2016). It also sought money damages as compensation for revenues it had been denied under the allegedly unconstitutional statute. *Id.* at 708.

Before reaching the merits, this Court assessed whether the city's claims were barred by the statute of limitations, and it gave different answers for the two different sorts of relief Fernley requested, explaining, "The statute of limitations applies differently depending on the type of relief sought." *Id.* at 706. As to money damages, the Court applied the four-year catch-all statute. *Id.* at 707. Because Fernley had known about its damages claim for eleven years, the four-year statute barred it from seeking damages for the allegedly unconstitutional denial of revenue.

On the other hand, the four-year statute did not bar the declaratory judgment claim. *Id.* This ruling was required by "the doctrine of constitutional supremacy," and aimed to stop statutes of limitations from interfering with judicial review. *Id.* 

But it also reached more broadly. It approvingly quoted a New York case—one without constitutional issues—as "holding that no statutory limitation applies 'when a declaratory judgment will serve a practical end in determining and stabilizing an uncertain or disputed jural question, either as to present or prospective obligations." *Id.* at 706 (quoting *Kirn v. Noyes*, 31 N.Y.S.2d 90, 93 (1941)<sup>1</sup>).

City of Fernley also approvingly quoted a Michigan case involving the constitutionality of a tax statute, but the Michigan case's reasoning (like City of Fernley's) was only partly about constitutional law. See id. at 706–07 (citing Taxpayers Allied for Constitutional Taxation v. Wayne Cty., 537 N.W.2d 596, 600 (Mich. 1995)). Like City of Fernley, the Michigan Supreme Court said applying a statute of limitations to declaratory claims about the constitutionality of statutes would frustrate judicial review. Taxpayers Allied, 537 N.W.2d at 600 ("To hold otherwise would truncate the constitutional right.").

Yet the Michigan court also made a prudential argument with equal force outside constitutional cases: if the court held prospective relief was time-barred, that would not settle the dispute over the tax statute's validity; instead it would force the plaintiffs to sue for damages after the state again collected the allegedly invalid tax.

9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> *Kirn* did not actually involve a statute of limitations, but, because Nevada law applies to the present case rather than New York law, what *Kirn* actually said is less important than the way this Court interpreted and used *Kirn*.

*Id.* For that reason, the court concluded that applying a statute of limitations to lawsuits seeking prospective relief would be "very impractical." *Id.* 

#### B. U.S. Bank seeks prospective relief.

City of Fernley's distinction between prospective and retrospective relief is very simple. It does not depend, as courts held in other federal District of Nevada cases, on whether a declaratory suit seeks "to prevent future constitutional violations." Bank of N.Y. Mellon v. Foothills at MacDonald Ranch Master Ass'n, 329 F. Supp. 3d 1221, 1234 (D. Nev. 2018) (citing Fernley). City of Fernley also applies regardless whether the impetus for the declaratory relief arose in the past or is expected in the future. Bank of N.Y. Mellon v. Willow Creek Cmty. Ass'n, No. 2:16-cv-00717-RFB-BNW, 2019 WL 4677009, at \*3 (D. Nev. Sept. 25, 2019) (unpublished) (citing Fernley). Instead City of Fernley asks only whether the relief is declaratory: "There are two types of relief: retrospective relief, such as money damages, and prospective relief, such as injunctive or declaratory relief." 366 P.3d at 706. There is no question which side of this line U.S. Bank's claim falls on. U.S. Bank seeks declaratory relief, which is prospective.

The reason prospective declaratory relief is not subject to limitation is the same practical reason identified in *Taxpayers Allied*, on which *Fernley* heavily relied. In both *Taxpayers Allied* and *Fernley*, applying a statute of limitations would not have resolved the parties' dispute because the constitutional issue would have

been left unaddressed. A ruling that a particular cause of action was time-barred would not stop new causes of action from accruing. Each time an unconstitutional tax was collected (*Taxpayers Allied*) or each time revenue was unconstitutionally withheld (*Fernley*), a new damages claim would arise with a new limitations period.

The same problem exists here. U.S. Bank does not seek damages for an injury it suffered on the sale date—if it did, then a statute of limitations would apply. Instead, U.S Bank seeks judicial confirmation that it may enforce the deed of trust in the future, for example through the following actions:

- inspecting the property (*see* AA80 (section 7 providing, "Lender . . . may make reasonable entries upon and inspections of the Property"));
- claiming insurance proceeds if the property is destroyed (*see id*. (section 5 providing, "If the restoration or repair is not economically feasible or Lender's security would be lessened, the insurance proceeds shall be applied to the sums secured by this Security Instrument . . . . "));
- requiring Thunder to maintain the property (*see id.* ("Borrower shall not destroy, damage or impair the Property, allow the Property to deteriorate or commit waste on the Property."));
- demanding rents under the Uniform Assignment of Rents Act (See NRS 107A.010 et seq.);

- continuing to pay taxes and insurance to preserve its interest in the property; and
- foreclosing.

The district court's order does not resolve any of these questions, and all of them can still be raised and decided through some other cause of action. U.S. Bank could do any of the following:

- demand rents or an inspection and then sue if Thunder refused,
- bring a judicial foreclosure suit,
- schedule a nonjudicial foreclosure<sup>2</sup> and litigate the deed of trust's validity if Thunder sued to stop the sale, or
- schedule a nonjudicial foreclosure, buy the property at the sale, and sue to eject Thunder from the property.

But each of these other avenues, especially the nonjudicial foreclosure, requires escalating the conflict in some way, complicating the issues, incurring avoidable fees, and perhaps exposing U.S. Bank to damages claims by Thunder.

For this reason, many states do not impose a statute of limitations on quiet title actions seeking prospective relief regarding the status of title (as opposed to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Despite the time that has passed since the HOA sale, U.S. Bank has the right to initiate non-judicial foreclosure under NRS 107.080. *See Facklam v. HSBC Bank USA*, 401 P.3d 1068, 1071 (Nev. 2017) (statutes of limitations do not apply to nonjudicial foreclosure).

possession of the property).<sup>3</sup> Applying a statute of limitations to such a claim leaves the parties without a means for determining the status of the title. No statutory default rule determines whether U.S. Bank's deed of trust continues to encumber Thunder's property; thus, U.S. Bank has no way to have a determination whether it may enforce the lien interest. The same pragmatic concerns that underlie the reasoning in *City of Fernley* apply here: rather than extending an ill-suited statute of limitations to leave the parties with an unresolved dispute, the Court should follow its precedent and not apply any statute of limitations to U.S. Bank's claims.

The existence of ongoing conflict demonstrates the district court did not resolve the controversy by dismissing the case. The ongoing conflict illustrates why *Fernley* is dispositive: U.S. Bank sought a declaration regarding present and future rights, not retroactive or coercive relief.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See, e.g., Williams v. Mertz, 549 So. 2d 87, 88 (Ala. 1989) ("This was a quiet title action, and there is no statute of limitations for quiet title actions."); Kean v. Forman, 752 A.2d 906, 908 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2000) (holding a quiet title action seeking to remove cloud on title is not subject to any statute of limitations); Ditta v. Conte, 298 S.W.3d 187, 192 (Tex. 2009) ("We have held that as long as an injury clouding the title remains, so too does an equitable action to remove the cloud; therefore, a suit to remove the cloud is not time-barred."); Branting v. Salt Lake City, 153 P. 995, 1001 (Utah 1915) ("the action is purely one to remove a cloud or to quiet title [to real property], the statute of limitations has no application"); Van Sant v. City of Seattle, 287 P.2d 130, 132 (Wash. 1955) ("Respondent's action was brought to remove a cloud on his title, and such actions are not subject to the statute of limitations."); 54 C.J.S. Limitations of Actions § 42 ("an action which in essence is an action to remove clouds from title is not subject to the period of limitations prescribed for a possessor action").

### C. No statute of limitations applies to defenses.

Holding U.S. Bank's action timely under *Fernley* also works in harmony with another limitations doctrine: limitations apply to claims, not to issues or defenses.

In *Dredge Corp. v. Wells Cargo Inc.*, a plaintiff brought a declaratory claim, asking a district court to rule that it was no longer bound by its contract with the defendant because the defendant had breached the contract first. 389 P.2d 394, 396 (Nev. 1964). The district court refused. It ruled the defendant had breached "the contract at a time more than 6 years before this suit was commenced," so "this action in all of its interrelated aspects was barred by limitations." *Id.*

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