### No. 81129 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

US BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, AS TRUSTEE FOR Jah 25 2021 06:00 p.m. UNDERWRITING AND RESIDENTIAL FINANCE TRUST AND RESIDENTIAL FINANCE FINAN

ν.

### THUNDER PROPERTIES, INC. AND WESTLAND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENTS,

*Defendants—Respondents.* 

#### **APPEAL**

Certified Question from the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit Case No. 17-16399

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Roger P. Croteau, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 4958 Timothy E. Rhoda, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 7878

ROGER P. CROTEAU AND ASSOCIATES, LTD

2810 W. Charleston Boulevard, Suite 75

Las Vegas, Nevada 89102 Telephone: (702) 254-7775

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

Bank of America's claim is not an action upon liability created by statute. Instead, Bank of America seeks a declaration under §40.010 that its lien was not extinguished by the HOA foreclosure sale. Section 40.010 does not create liability, and a party cannot impose liability upon another through that statute. Rather, the statute allows for a proceeding to determine adverse claims to property. And Bank of America does not seek to impose liability in its quiet title/declaratory relief claim. Its question is whether its lien still encumbers the property, not who is personally liable for the underlying debt.

Consequently, I conclude that the catchall four-year limitation period in § 11.220 applies. The foreclosure sale took place on September 5, 2012, and the trustee's deed upon sale was recorded on February 14, 2013. ECF No. 1 at 6. The complaint was filed more than four years later, on July 6, 2017. Bank of America's quiet title/declaratory relief claim is therefore untimely.

Id. Judge Jennifer A. Dorsey has agreed, holding as follows in the matter of In re
U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n:

With no squarely applicable limitations statute for U.S. Bank's equitable quiet-title claims, I am left with the catch-all four-year deadline in NRS 11.220, which states that "[a]n action for relief, not hereinbefore provided for, must be commenced within 4 years after the cause of action shall have accrued." Because the foreclosure sale occurred on January 25, 2013, and this action was filed more than four years later on May 26, 2017, U.S. Bank's remaining quiet-title claims are time barred. I thus grant summary judgment in favor of the defendants and against U.S. Bank on all of the bank's claims . . .

In re U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n, 376 F. Supp. 3d 1085, 1091 (D. Nev. 2019).

The Bank's claims in the instant matter are substantially identical to those that were at issue in *Country Garden* and *In Re U.S. Bank*. As there, the Bank's

untimely Complaint purports to seek a declaration that its First Deed of Trust was not extinguished by the HOA Foreclosure Sale that had occurred approximately 5 ½ years earlier. For the same reasons set forth by Judge Gordon in *Country Garden*, the applicable statute of limitations is not longer than 4 years.

### 10. THE BANK'S POSITION THAT NO STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS APPLIES TO THE FACTS AT HAND IS LUDICROUS

In the case from which this matter originates, the Bank delayed over 5 ½ years by doing absolutely nothing and allowing the subject real property to not only be sold at the HOA Foreclosure Sale but also allowing it to be transferred to not one but two bona fide purchasers without providing any notice of a claim.

AA6. Now, in a desperate attempt to salvage its lost security interest, the Bank effectively argued that NO statute of limitations exists which can serve to bar its claims. Given the extraordinarily long delay of the Bank, this is in fact the only argument that it could make at the case below. Unfortunately, it is wholly without merit.

The Bank relies in large part upon *City of Fernley v. State Dep't of Tax*, 366 P.3d 699 (2016) for its purported proposition that "declaratory actions do not always have a statute of limitations." However, the Bank ignores the fact that in *Fernley*, this Court ruled that the four-year catchall statute of limitations of NRS

11.220 barred the City's claims for retrospective relief related to an unconstitutional statute. *City of Fernley*, 366 P.3d 699, 707, 2016 Nev. LEXIS 4, \*17, 132 Nev. Adv. Rep. 4. Because the City had delayed seeking relief for almost 11 years after it possessed notice that it would be adversely affected by the statute at issue, the City was allowed to proceed only with its prospective claims for injunctive and declaratory relief from the statute. *Id.* Claims related to all of its alleged past damages were adjudged to be time-barred. Thus, contrary to the arguments of the Bank, *Fernley* actually dictates that a bank <u>is</u> barred from asserting at a late date that its security interest was unaffected by an earlier homeowners association lien foreclosure sale. Indeed, *Fernley* is highly analogous to the situation at hand. Judge Richard Boulware of the United States District Court for the District of Nevada has acknowledged this fact.

In the matter of *Bank of N.Y. Mellon v. Ruddell*, Judge Boulware stated as follows:

BNY incorrectly asserts that no statute of limitations applies to seek declaratory relief. "A claim for declaratory relief is subject to a statute of limitations generally applicable to civil claims." *Zuill v. Shanahan*, 80 F.3d 1366, 1369-70 (9th Cir. 1996). While Nevada law recognizes that "[t]he statute of limitations applies differently depending on the type of relief sought" and that "claimants retain the right to prevent future violations of their constitutional rights [through prospective relief]," *City of Fernley v. State, Dep't of Tax*, 366 P.3d 699, 706 (Nev. 2016), the relief BNY seeks is retrospective in nature. BNY

argues that it seeks prospective relief as to the ongoing validity of its deed of trust. But to find in favor of BNY on this claim, the Court would first need to award retrospective relief by finding that the foreclosure sale did not extinguish the senior deed of trust or that the foreclosure sale was void, meaning a deed of trust existed on which the judicial foreclosure claim could proceed.

Bank of N.Y. Mellon v. Ruddell, 380 F. Supp. 3d 1096, 1100-01 (D. Nev. 2019).

As discussed at length above, a subordinate first deed of trust is presumptively extinguished at the time of a HOA Foreclosure Sale. In the matter from which this appeal arises, it is undisputed that the Bank did absolutely nothing for a period of over 5 ½ years despite its knowledge of the facts giving rise to the loss of its security interest. As in *Fernley*, the Bank's delay barred it from seeking retrospective relief. To hold otherwise would serve to ignore the very purposes of the statutes of limitations which are designed to "promote repose by giving security and stability to human affairs." *Petersen*, 106 Nev. 271 at 274.

The Bank goes on to argue that the statute of limitations for what it contends is simply a declaratory relief claim has *not even begun to run yet* because "lenders are not barred from foreclosing on mortgaged property merely because the statute of limitations for contractual remedies on the note has passed." The Bank attempts to support this nonsensical argument by citing an inapposite case—

Facklam v. HSBC Bank USA for Deutsche ALT-A Sec. Mortg. Loan Tr., 401 P.3d 1068, 1069 (Nev. 2017).

The Bank's reliance on *Facklam* is misplaced, and *Facklam* actually demonstrates why NRS 11.190 applies. In *Facklam*, the bank sought to enforce a **valid** deed of trust, and the Court simply held that the statute of limitations found in NRS Chapter 11 does not apply to non-judicial claims i.e. a non-judicial foreclosure. This is far from the situation at issue herein where the Bank's secured interest was extinguished and rendered void as a matter of law by the HOA Foreclosure Sale and the Bank thereafter simply ignored the matter for over 5 ½ years before finally filing suit.

The Bank goes on to argue that its First Deed of Trust remains valid until ten years after the note associated with the same becomes fully due pursuant to NRS 106.240 and that its claims therefore cannot barred until such time. The Bank's reliance on NRS 106.240 is misplaced.

NRS 106.240 is a statute of repose and not a statute of limitation like NRS 11.080 or 11.190. A statute of repose "...begins when a specific event occurs, regardless of whether a cause of action has accrued or whether any injury has resulted." *See* Black's Law Dictionary, 1423 (7th d. 1999). NRS 106.240 is inapplicable to this matter because the plain language of the statute discusses a

non-claim if after ten years from last payment "it shall be conclusively presumed that the debt has been regularly satisfied and the lien discharged." *Id*.

# 11. IN THE ABSENCE OF TIMELY FILING SUIT, A BANK MUST BE DEEMED TO HAVE WAIVED ANY CLAIM THAT ITS SECURITY INTEREST WAS NOT EXTINGUISHED

All of the presumptions that exist under Nevada law favor the purchaser and/or owner of real property that was the subject of a foreclosure sale. The Bank's positions would destroy these presumptions in favor of a perverted policy that allows a lender who may or may not have taken sufficient action to protect itself to unilaterally decide whether it believes that it can successfully rebut these statutory presumptions. It is highly likely that a bank will not bother to do so. Instead, it will simply move forward with foreclosure and shift the burden of objecting to the party with far fewer resources and far less knowledge than the bank.

It is without doubt that a party with meritorious claims may waive them.

Take for example the case of a grievous personal injury. A potential plaintiff may suffer great injury as a result of the negligence of a third party. While there may be absolutely no dispute at law regarding the liability of the third party for these injuries, the potential plaintiff must nonetheless file an action within the

appropriate period of limitations if he or she hopes to have any recovery. The failure to do so results in forever waiving the claim. The same should hold true for a bank that believes its security interest to be unaffected by a homeowners association lien foreclosure sale despite the litany of presumptions that dictate otherwise. If the bank fails to timely file an appropriate action to *prove* itself to have been protected, the unrebutted presumptions should operate by law to confirm that the bank's security interest was extinguished. Otherwise, owners of real property can never have the comfort of knowing that their property will not be wrested from them at some unknown point in the distant future for reasons of which they are completely unaware. Nor can any potential purchaser of real property confidently appear and purchase real property at foreclosure sales.

## 12. THE IMPOSITION OF A STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS AGAINST THE BANK PROMOTES PUBLIC POLICY AND IS NOT ABSURD

The Bank's next argument demonstrates a fundamental lack of understanding of the law. Specifically, the Bank makes an argument that it boils down to "Thunder can sue, so U.S. Bank can sue." Opening Brief, p. 34.

Basically, the Bank argues that imposing a statute of limitations against the Bank would be absurd simply because it was the plaintiff in the underlying case and that

it is somehow being penalized for taking the initiative to file suit – albeit after an extraordinarily long delay.

The Bank asserts that "unless Thunder at some point loses possession of the property for five years, it can sue U.S. Bank at any time to determine whether the sale extinguished the deed of trust." Opening Brief, p. 34. However, the Bank misses the point that Thunder will never have any need to file an action if the Bank has failed to timely bring its own. The Bank fails to comprehend that Thunder possesses record title and possession of the Property and that, unlike the Bank, no statute of limitations has commenced running against it.

Pursuant to NRS 11.070 and/or NRS 11.080, any potential claim by

Thunder could not be time-barred until 5 years after it might lose possession of the

Property. As the Bank readily admits, this is exactly contrary to its position,

where the Bank never possessed either title or possession.

The positions of the Bank and Thunder are vastly different. The Bank once possessed a presumably valid security interest in the property at issue in the form of its First Deed of Trust. That security interest was presumably extinguished as a matter of law at the time of and as a result of the HOA Foreclosure Sale.

Thereafter, the Bank did absolutely nothing for a period of over 5 ½ years despite its knowledge of the facts and the accrual of its claim. Thunder, on the other hand,

simply purchased the Property in good faith for valuable consideration without any notice of the Bank's continuing claim. As noted above, in this particular case, the Bank's claim is not even premised upon any effort to tender. On the contrary, it is undisputed that US Bank did absolutely nothing in response to the HOA's foreclosure notices. Thunder purchased the subject property in good faith for valuable consideration and thereafter held both title and possession of the property until the Bank filed its untimely and specious Complaint, dragging Thunder into Court after its very substantial delay. Thunder continues to hold both record title and possession of the property to this very day. Because it is the holder of record title and possession, Thunder had no need to file suit at any point in time.

In closing, the Bank suggests that "it has to foreclose its deed of trust before confirming it actually has a deed of trust to foreclose." Opening Brief, p. 36. This statement is astonishingly overbroad. Indeed, to the best of Respondent's knowledge, no one has suggested that banks have no opportunity to contest homeowners association lien foreclosures sales. On the contrary, the good faith purchasers of real property at homeowners association lien foreclosure sales simply contend that banks were required to timely seek judicial confirmation that their secured interests survived foreclosure sales if they believe this to be the case. Banks have filed hundreds or thousands of such cases. Whether the applicable

time period is 3, 4 or even 5 years, banks possessed adequate time to obtain court confirmation of their claims. In certain cases – like this one – they simply failed to do so.

Obviously, foreclosing on an extinguished and void security interest would constitute exceptionally poor judgment that would open a bank to significant compensatory and potentially punitive damages. Nonetheless, if the Bank were to choose to exercise such poor judgment and complete a foreclosure, it is true that the property owner would possess a time period of five years from the date of such foreclosure in which to file suit to recover its property. *Las Vegas Dev. Grp.*, *LLC v. Blaha*, 416 P.3d 233, 237 (Nev. 2018). The Bank is simply not in a similar position because again – as it freely admits – it has never been seized or possessed of the Property.

#### 13. <u>A PROPERTY OWNER IS NOT REQUIRED TO PROVE THE</u> ELEMENTS OF ADVERSE POSSESSION

Although not discussed in detail in the Appellant's Opening Brief herein, at the district court, the Bank attempted to place a burden of proof upon Thunder, asserting that "Thunder must satisfy the standard common-law requirements [of adverse possession]." Neither Thunder nor any other purchaser of real property at a foreclosure sale is required to do anything of the sort. On the contrary, Thunder

was nothing more than a Defendant in an untimely action that was dragged into court by US Bank. Thunder filed no affirmative causes of action and simply defended against the untimely claims that the Bank caused to be filed against it.

The burden of proof lays with US Bank on all of its claims. Moreover, any and all presumptions that exist under Nevada law exist in favor of Thunder – not the Bank.

As discussed at length above, the HOA Foreclosure Sale presumptively served to extinguish the First Deed of Trust. The district court properly held that US Bank was placed on notice of this fact no later than the date on which the HOA Foreclosure Deed was recorded. Despite this fact, US Bank delayed seeking any form of relief for a period of approximately 5 ½ years. As a result, its claims – even if they were potentially meritorious – became time-barred. The Bank cannot place a burden upon Thunder where the Bank and the Bank alone failed to take actions that it deemed appropriate to attempt to protect its security interest. Attempting to place the burden upon Thunder is disingenuous and contrary to the law.

#### **CONCLUSION**

For the reasons set forth herein, the statute of limitations applicable to a bank's claims contesting the force and effect of a homeowners association lien

foreclosure sale is either 3 or 4 years. There is no merit in the bank's desperate claim that no statute of limitations governs its claims. To the best of Respondent's knowledge, no court has ruled in such a manner.

In the absence of a timely filed suit to protect its security interest from extinguishment, a bank has waived any defenses that it may have once possessed. This is the only manner in which a good faith purchaser of real property at any foreclosure sale can possess peace of mind. Such is the purpose of statutes of limitation, which are founded upon not logic but necessity and convenience. 51 Am.Jur.2d Limitation of Actions §19, p. 603.